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Contents of the Addendum 

A. Important Announcement 

B. Questions and Answers – Enclosed are questions and answers that were asked at the pre-

submission conference on May 14, 2021, as well as questions sent to the RFP email address. 

C. Contact Information – Contact information is provided for those individuals who attended the 

pre-submission conference and indicated their willingness to share their contact information. 

  



A. Important Announcement 
 

Site A: 542 Dean Street Financing Proposal 

 

For the purposes of responding to this RFP, submissions for 542 Dean Street should propose a financing 

scenario that utilizes 9% LIHTC awarded by HPD. For the purposes of the RFP submission, 9% LIHTC 

would not be considered a competitive finding source. After selection, HPD would work with the 

Development team to refine project financing.   

 

  



B. Questions and Answers

Development Team Questions 

1. For the comparable management experience, does a principal need to be a property manager or is 
it acceptable to have a property manager on the team that meets the requirement?

The Property Manager does not need to be a Principal with ownership stake, they can be a member of 

the Development Team that meets the threshold requirement.  

2. If one of the principals has successfully completed a 57-unit (affordable housing) new construction 
development within the required 7 year timeframe, will that suffice to meet the comparable 
development experience requirement? The RFP cites 60 units, so we wanted to confirm.

We encourage your team to apply and we will review and make a determination as to this specific 

question. Submissions must meet the threshold criteria specified in the RFP. Please note that this 

threshold requirement can be satisfied by any principal of an entity with at least 10% ownership interest 

in the Development Team. If at least one of the entities of the Development Team with ownership 

interest can demonstrate the experience required, the team would meet this threshold requirement. 

Principal: An individual, partnership, limited liability company, corporation, or other not-for-profit or for-

profit entity that will act as the general partner, officer, or managing member of the Development 

Team, or any entity, known limited partner, or other member that has at least a 10% ownership interest 

in the Respondent. 

3. Can we partner up with an M/WBE owned business as a joint venture to qualify for the RFP for 542 
Dean and for 516 Bergen?

We are accepting Submissions from joint ventures, please note the Development Team in joint ventures 

needs to include an M/WBE that has at least 51% managing ownership interest in the Project as 

described further in the RFP.   

4. What are the M/WBE participation requirements for M/WBE Build Up?

The M/WBE Build Up Program, which aims to increase contracting opportunities for certified Minority- 

and Women-Owned Business Enterprises (M/WBEs) in HPD/HDC-subsidized affordable housing projects, 

requires developers/borrowers to spend at least a quarter of HPD/HDC-supported costs on HPD/HDC-

subsidized projects. Please see the M/WBE Build Up Program website for more information.   

Design and Zoning Questions 

5. The Community Visioning Report describes a nine story/95’ high building, should respondents 
presume the sites will be rezoned as an R7A district?

The zoning district is open for development teams to propose. HPD will evaluate designs with their 

ability to meet the development goals outlined in the RFP and community priorities outlined in the Dean 

and Bergen Community Visioning Report. 

https://www1.nyc.gov/site/hpd/services-and-information/m-wbe-build-up-program.page
https://www1.nyc.gov/assets/hpd/downloads/pdfs/services/calculating-minimum-goal.pdf
https://www1.nyc.gov/site/hpd/services-and-information/m-wbe-build-up-program.page


6. I recall from the community engagement there was some discussion of going from R6B to R7A.  But

that didn’t make its way into the document.  Can you help me understand how you’re going to be

looking at this piece of it?

There may be more than a single zoning framework to achieve the goals of the projects and the 

community’s desire for contextual buildings while meeting the goals of the RFP. The zoning district is 

therefore open for development teams to propose.  We will evaluate the submissions’ designs with 

those project goals and community priorities in mind. 

7. We have read that there are proposed changes to the AIRS Program or how HPD applies the AIRS

Program beginning July 21, 2021. What are these changes and how do they affect these projects?

HPD has announced that AIRS will be suspended for privately financed projects. Respondents can still 

assume AIRS zoning for projects financed by HPD loan programs that comply with the AIRS requirements 

outlined in the Zoning Resolution. SARA projects already meet AIRS affordability and age requirements. 

Non-SARA proposals would require a senior set aside which is not standard. Any non-SARA proposals 

assuming AIRS zoning would need to demonstrate a zoning benefit over and above that provided by 

MIH. 

8. As per the “M/WBE RFP Round 2 Dean and Bergen Community Report,” Building Design Section,

community participants were shown buildings that had a Maximum Base Height of 75’-0” and a

Maximum Building Height of 95’-0” and 9 stories for the Dean and Bergen sites.  As-of-right zoning

does not permit such heights in an R6B district under the AIRS Program.  In addition, there is not

enough floor area available as-of-right to get that big of a building.  In some previous Senior First

RFP’s, BSA variances where required or preferred to provide additional senior housing.  Is a BSA

variance preferable / suggested in these two projects?

There is no RFP requirement to pursue a NYC Board of Standards and Appeals zoning variance. 

Respondents should propose a zoning strategy that permits a high-quality building design, and to create 

new affordable housing that meets the goals of this RFP. 

9. Can the ULURP for these sites be de-coupled to allow for a more facile development process for

each?

HPD anticipates each project will go through its own environmental review and public approvals process 

Programming Questions 

10. For Bergen, is there any preference between homeownership or rental programs? The visioning

report has it split 50/50.

Respondents are welcome to propose either a homeownership or rental project on this site. At this 

moment, the City recognizes there is a greater need to provide lower income New Yorkers, particularly 

lower income families with children, an opportunity to live in this amenity-, transit-rich neighborhood 

with positive health outcomes. HPD encourages Respondents to propose a project that meets that 

development goals for this site.  



11. As per the vision goals, do we build relationships with the existing public programs in the

community? Or bring in new ones?

HPD encourages Respondents to get to know the sites, their surroundings, the community and 

community partners especially as Teams consider ground floor community uses.  Development Teams 

should determine which relationships and programs will be most beneficial to the community based on 

both the Visioning Report and their own knowledge of the neighborhood.  

12. Can HPD/developers consider using ground floor spaces for necessary supportive

services/agencies for the building residents?

Regarding ground floor supportive services for the community, it is up to the Respondent to propose 

uses, which may include government agencies and other service-oriented organizations. Respondents 

are encouraged to consult the Dean and Bergen Community Visioning Report and the RFP criteria to 

determine what would make a competitive proposal.  

Regarding social services for building residents, Respondents should consult the respective term sheet 

for their proposed program to determine the social services required. An appropriate amount of social 

service office space should be provided in a suitable location in the residential portion of the building.  

Site A Open Space Questions 

13. Is there any consideration that whoever is granted development rights that they upgrade the Dean

St playground as well. Can Parks include improvements to the Dean Playground in their capital

budget?

The Development Team designated for Site A will be responsible for building the publicly accessible 

open space within the confines of Site A.  They will not be responsible for any upgrades to the existing 

Dean Playground. At this time, the Department of Parks and Recreation is unable to include capital 

improvements to Dean Playground in its next budget.   

14. Are there parameters that define public accessibility of open space?  Opening hours, etc.?

Please refer to the Department of Parks and Recreation High Performance Landscape Guidelines linked 

in Appendix A.  

Site B Parking Questions 

15. Is the HPD parking intent a UG 8 public parking garage? Should respondents presume a rezoning

will include a C2 district overlay to allow the parking use? Should respondents presume HPD will

pursue a Mayoral override of zoning to allow the parking use?

The parking is for HPD operations only and Development Teams do not need to assume a commercial 

overlay. HPD will work with Development Team to ensure approvals are in place. 



16. Regarding Appendix C for 22’- and 24’-long vans: can you indicate parking space dimensions you

require?

A 26’ by 10’ parking space would suffice for an Outreach/Command Van. 

17. Regarding Appendix C for towed vehicles: can you confirm the towed vehicles parking space is

equal to a car parking space?

Confirmed. 

18. Regarding Appendix C for towed vehicles: can you confirm required operation dimensions for

towing vehicle pull-through, backing & turning?

A tow truck will require at least a 10-foot high ceiling height and a 40-foot turning radius to operate. 

19. How many HPD vehicle parking spaces should we assume we need to build, if any?

Per the RFP, Site A has no parking requirements; Site B has a requirement for 23 parking for HPD 

operations. Please see Appendix C for parking specifications.  

Financing Questions 

20. Should we assume capital subsidy on top of the housing subsidy for the extra costs associated with

the below grade parking at 516 Bergen Street?

For the purposes of this RFP, Respondents may make an HPD subsidy request for any unfunded portion 

of the parking.  Respondents should not assume income from the parking. 

21. How much funding does the developer have to put in on their own?

Developer equity requirements depend on the residential program. For Site A which will be a senior 

residential program, Respondents will need to comply with the SARA term sheet; this term sheet does 

not include a requirement for a developer equity, but requires deferred developer fee. For Site B, 

Respondents will need to comply with the HPD and HDC term sheets for their proposed residential 

programs.   

22. Assuming that 542 Dean Street proposals will likely range from 80-100 SARA units, does HPD have

a preference about whether it is funded with 4% or 9% LIHTC?

For the purposes of responding to this RFP, submissions for 542 Dean Street should propose a financing 

scenario that utilizes 9% LIHTC awarded by HPD.  For the purposes of the RFP submission, 9% LIHTC 

would not be considered a competitive finding source.  After selection, HPD would work with the 

Development team to refine project financing.   



C. Contact Information 

 

Contact information is provided for those individuals who attended the pre-submission conference 

and indicated their willingness to share their contact information. 

 



Prospective Role Organization Type Name Organization Email

Architect M/WBE Nadine Moubayed 43hundred design nmoubayed80@gmail.com

Architect M/WBE Nicole Hollant-Denis Aaris Design nhd@aarisny.com

Architect M/WBE Marta Sanders Architecture Outfit marta@archoutfit.com

Architect M/WBE Radmila Lazarevic B4 Architecture LLC radmila.lazarevic@b4a.design

Architect Other Elizabeth Candela BKSK Architects ecandela@bksk.com

Architect M/WBE Peter Zuspan Bureau V Architecture zuspan@bureauv.com

Architect M/WBE Sean Flynn Curtis + Ginsberg Architects LLP sean@cplusga.com

Architect M/WBE Mark Ginsberg Curtis + Ginsberg Architects LLP mark@cplusga.com

Architect M/WBE Eva Perez de Vega e+i studio Info@eistudio.ner

Architect M/WBE Anaelechi Owunwanne Freeform Deform LLC anaele@freeformdeform.com

Architect M/WBE Pablo Santiago Ismael Leyva Architects psantiago@ilarch.com

Architect M/WBE Lissa So MARVEL lso@marveldesigns.com

Architect M/WBE Danielle Cerone MARVEL dcerone@marveldesigns.com

Architect M/WBE Annya Ramirez MARVEL aramirez@marveldesigns.com

Architect M/WBE Dawne David-Pierre Moody Nolan Inc ddavidpierre@moodynolan.com

Architect M/WBE Latoya Kamdang Moody Nolan Inc lkamdang@moodynolan.com

Architect M/WBE Eric Bunge nARCHITECTS eric.bunge@narchitects.com

Architect M/WBE Mimi Hoang nARCHITECTS mimi.hoang@narchitects.com

Architect M/WBE Jennifer Lee Obra Architects jennifer@obraarchitects.com

Architect M/WBE Amir Shouri Tabe Shouri info@tabeshouri.com

Architect M/WBE William A. Alicea World Design Architecture, PLLC will.aworlddesign@gmail.com

Architect M/WBE Marianne Hyde ZH Architects mh@zh-architects.com

Architect M/WBE Stas Zakrzewski ZH Architects sz@zh-architects.com

Architect M/WBE Wendy Andringa Assemblage Landscape Architecture  wendy@assemblagelandscape.com

Construction Manager M/WBE Roopesh Gayadin Leading Construction Corp leadingconstructioncorp@gmail.com

Construction Manager M/WBE Karen Maida McKissack & McKissack kmaida@mckissack.com

Construction Manager M/WBE Caroline Haidar SC Engineers, PC caroline.haidar@scengineerspc.com

Construction Manager M/WBE Sam Simon Simon sez build rite llc Simonsezbuildrite@gmail.com
Construction Manager

Developer M/WBE ALEXIS MCSWEEN BOTTOM LINE CONSTRUCTION & DEVELOPMENT ALEXIS@BLCDNYC.COM

Developer M/WBE Shiree Monterio 7 and M Development, LLC shiree@7andM.com

Developer Non-Profit Ralph Declet Acacia Network Inc. rdeclet@acacianetwork.org

Developer M/WBE Donald Matheson Almat Urban LLC dm@audevco.com

Developer M/WBE Lee Brathwaite Apex Building Group lee@apexbuilds.com

Developer M/WBE JOHN GOODRICH Benzi & Goodrich Development Group JXGOODRICH@gmail.COM

Developer M/WBE Amy Stokes Bev Road Development LLC bevroadllc@gmail.com

Developer M/WBE Wayne Finley Blufin Development wfinley@blufincorp.com

Developer Other Hope D. Lawery BR Grey hope@brgrey.com

Developer Non-Profit Yahya O. Raji Brooklyn Neighborhood Improvement Association, Inc. yraj162@gmail.com

Developer M/WBE Jerrod Delaine Carthage Real Estate jdelaine@carthageadvisors.com

Developer M/WBE Ben Upshaw CB-Emmanuel Realty LLC ben.upshaw@cbemmauel.com

Developer M/WBE Margarita Pajaro CB-Emmanuel Realty LLC margarita.pajaro@cbemmanuel.com

Developer M/WBE Cecelia  Miller CEE Development ceecreations@aol.com

Developer M/WBE Rafael Rivera CEO rafael@razordevelopment.net

Developer M/WBE David Sjauw City Construction Partners dsjauw@ccpnyc.com

Developer M/WBE Jack Brown CORE Development Company jbrown@coredevco.com

Developer M/WBE Colleen Green CORE Development Company cgreen@coresvcs.org

Developer M/WBE

CURTIS BROWN

MARIE MARTINEZ CORE Development Company MMARTINEZ@COREDEVCO.COM

Developer M/WBE MANDEEP SAHI CUSTOMBUILT HOMES INC. customhomesny@gmail.com

Developer M/WBE Robert Bowers Dan CM Consulting robert@dancmc.com

Developer M/WBE Michael Nyamekye Dantes Partners michael@dantespartners.com

Developer Other Buwa Binitie Dantes Partners buwa@dantespartners.com

Developer M/WBE Gabriel Troncoso Dimes Capital Group LLC gabriel@dimescap.com

Developer Non-Profit Latanga Dominion Affordable Housing Initiative Corporation Tanjjie@aol.com

Developer M/WBE Olusegun Obasanjo Duvernay+Brooks oobasanjo@duvernaybrooks.com

Developer M/WBE Edward Carrington Flux City Development edward@flux.city

Developer M/WBE Eric Wynn Green Jay Ltd and Go Green construction Wgreenjayltd@gmail.com

Developer Other Denise St Just-Cordero Greystone & Co denise.cordero@greyco.com

Developer Other Kenya Pleasant Greystone Affordable Development kenya.pleasant@greyco.com

Developer M/WBE Abby Hamlin Hamlin Ventures, LLC ahamlin@hamlinventures.com

Developer Non-Profit Paola Duran HANAC, Inc. pduran@hanac.org

Developer Non-Profit Stacy Bliagos HANAC, Inc. sbliagos@hanac.org

Developer Other Ellen Seidman Housing Workshop NY LLC ellen@housingworkshopinc.com

Developer Non-Profit Robert Jefferson IMPACCT Brooklyn robert_jefferson@impacctbk.org

Developer Non-Profit Lorne Norton IMPACCT Brooklyn lorne_norton@impacctbk.org

Developer M/WBE Randall E Powell Infinite Horizons, LLC rpowell@infinitehorizonsredc.com

Developer M/WBE Miriam Rodriguez Innovative Property Management & Dev., Inc Ipmdevelopment@aol.com

Developer Non-Profit Donald Manning Israel Senior Housing dmanning@jasa.org

Developer M/WBE Anna L Rickman Jerome Environmental Services, LLC anna@jesllc.com

Developer M/WBE Olga Jobe Jobe Development Corp ojobe@ahresconsulting.com

Developer Non-Profit Val Henry Local Development Corporation of Crown Heights, Inc. vhenry@ldcch.org

Developer M/WBE Deborah Widerkehr MLappin & Associates LLC deborah@mlappinllc.com

Developer M/WBE Moses Cowan, Esq. MNC DEVELOPMENT, INC. info@mncdevelopment.com

Developer M/WBE Bernard Warren Moses Sole Realty, LLC bwarren@webb-brooker.com

Developer M/WBE Keith Gordon NCV Capital keith@ncvcapital.com

Developer Non-Profit Joan Beck New Destiny Housing Corporation Jbeck@newdestinyhousing.org

Developer M/WBE Gina Merritt Northern Real Estate Urban Ventures, LLC gmerritt@nreuv.com

Developer M/WBE DIANA GLANTERNIK NYAH Advisors dglanternik@nyahadvisors.com

Developer Non-Profit Bernell K Grier IMPACCT Brooklyn bernell_grier@impacctbk.org

Developer M/WBE Connor Kenney SAA | EVI ckenney@saaevi.com

Developer M/WBE Tomiko Moore Sole Proprietor Tomikomoore@aol.com

Developer M/WBE Raj Inamdar Sorani Finance & Real Estate raj.inamdar@soranifinance.com

Developer M/WBE Alexander Kurtz Mendelson Stuart Alexander & Associates, Inc. amendelson@saaevi.com

Developer Other Ira Brown The Briarwood Organization, LLC ibrown@briarwoodorg.com

Developer M/WBE Dan Hoeg The Hoeg Corporation dan@thehoegcorporation.com

Developer M/WBE Lindi Nguyen The Monroe Group, LLC lindi@themonroegroupllc.com

Developer M/WBE Desmonde Monroe The Monroe Group, LLC Desmonde@TheMonroeGroupllc.com

Developer M/WBE Annie Tirschwell Type A Projects LLC tirschwell@typeaprojects.com

Developer M/WBE Jill Crawford Type A Projects LLC crawford@typeaprojects.com

Developer M/WBE lashawn henry Urban Strategies of New York Inc. Lhenry422@gmail.com



Developer M/WBE Naim Brown Urbane Development Naim@urbane-dev.com

Developer M/WBE Melissa Bindra Vaya Development LLC melissa@vayadevelopment.com

Developer M/WBE Andrea Kretchmer Xenolith Partners LLC andrea@xenolithpartners.com

Developer M/WBE Chris Lebron Xenolith Partners LLC chris@xenolithpartners.com

Developer M/WBE Terri Belkas-Mitchell Xenolith Partners LLC terri@xenolithpartners.com

Engineering Consultant Other Bianca Celestin Valentina Client Representation, LLC bianca@valentinaclientrep.com

Environmental Consultant M/WBE Antoinette American Environmental Assessment & Solutions, Inc. info@aeasinc.com

Other M/WBE Wilfredo Ortiz Advance Security & Intercoms wilfredo@advancesecurityny.com

Other M/WBE Olga Jobe AHRES Consulting, LLC ojobe@ahresconsulting.com

Other Other Adam Hirsch AKAM Associates Inc. Ahirsch@akam.com

Other Non-Profit Amie Pospisil Breaking Ground apospisil@breakingground.org

Other Non-Profit John Betts Breaking Ground jbetts@breakingground.org

Other Non-Profit Lawrence Hammond Community Preservation Corporation lhammond@communityp.com

Other Other Stephen Vassor Dantes Partners stephen@dantespartners.com

Other Other Corey Powell Dantes Partners corey@dantespartners.com

Other Other Michael Nyamekye Dantes Partners michael@dantespartners.com

Other Other Tessa Edison Dantes Partners info@asset-mc.com

Other Other Aileen Gribbin Forsyth Street agribbin@forsythstreet.com

Other Non-Profit Yvonne Murphy Haven Of Hope Foundation Inc . havenofhopeymurphy@gmail.com

Other M/WBE Phanna Prum Island Computer Products, Inc. DBA ICP pprum@icpcorp.com

Other Other Lorinda Karoff Karoff Consulting lkaroff@karoffconsulting.com

Other M/WBE Daphany Rose Sanchez Kinetic Communities Consulting info@kc3.nyc

Other M/WBE Leoncio Reyes Lerco Electric, LLC lercoelect@yahoo.com

Other Non-Profit Richard Conley New Destiny Housing Corporation rconley@newdestinyhousing.org

Other M/WBE JIMMY GANDHI NEXUS CONSULTING NYC JIMMY@NEXUSCONSULTINGNYC.COM

Other Other Cathy S Iselin North Prospects Heights Association cathyiselin@gmail.com

Other Other Elaine Weinstein NPHA North Prospect Heights Association eweinstein60@gmail.com

Other Other Janessa NYCHA Housing Nspaights@gmail.com

Other M/WBE Ainslee Jacoby Barnum Ruzow & Associates, Inc. ainslee@ruzowandassociates.com

Other Other Juan Barahona SMJ Development Juan@SMJDevelopment.com

Other M/WBE DONNELL J SLAY Upgrades security solutions dslay@upgradesecuritysolutions.com
Real Estate or 

Land Use Attorney Other Joseph Forrester Sharifa mgmt Sharifamamagementcompanyllc@gmail.com

Other Jacob Bluestone Blue Sea Development Company jacob.bluestone@blueseadev.com
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